RECEIVED

Nov 12 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Darlington County

Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

V.

ANGELO HAM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000550

BRIEF OF APPELLANT
PURSUANT TO WHITE V. STATE

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the resentencing court err as a matter of law by sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense he committed as a fifteen year old juvenile where the court failed to properly consider and apply the Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) factors, particularly where the court misinterpreted several factors and used them as evidence of aggravation instead of as evidence mitigating in favor of a sentence less than life?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 14, 2004, the state filed juvenile petitions charging Appellant with murder, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime for actions that occurred on September 9, 2004, when Appellant was fifteen years old. App. 1. That same day, the state filed a motion requesting the petitions be transferred to the Court of General Sessions. App. 1. On July 18, 2005, a hearing was held before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson to determine whether jurisdiction should be transferred to the Court of General Sessions. App. 2. Then Assistant Solicitor Kenard Redmond represented the state. Henry “Hank” Anderson, Jr. represented Appellant. App. 2. By order dated August 3, 2005, Judge Henderson found it was “in the best interest of Angelo Ham that he be waived up to the Court of General Sessions.” App. 50-51.

A Darlington County grand jury indicted Appellant in October 2005 for murder, armed robbery, and criminal conspiracy. App. 590-595. On April 17, 2006, Appellant pled guilty as indicted before the Honorable John Milling. App. 52. Judge Milling sentenced Appellant to five years imprisonment for conspiracy. App. 80, ll. 9-24. However, he deferred sentencing on the murder and armed robbery offenses until after Appellant’s codefendant Anthony Robinson, who was served with notice of the state’s intent to seek the death penalty, was tried. The state anticipated that Appellant and his codefendant Dennis Hunter would testify against Robinson. App. 56, l. 22 – 57, l. 6.

Appellant’s codefendant Anthony Robinson ultimately pled guilty in exchange for a sentence of life without parole. Consequently, Appellant’s testimony against Robinson was not needed. On September 14, 2007, a sentencing hearing was held before Judge Milling. At the

conclusion of the hearing, Judge Milling sentenced Appellant to life without parole for murder and twenty-five years for armed robbery. App. 122, ll. 19-21.

Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal. However, with the advice of counsel, Appellant ultimately withdrew his direct appeal. By order filed June 9, 2008, the Court of Appeals dismissed Appellant's appeal. App. 125-128.

On November 21, 2008, Appellant filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 145-149. The state filed a return to this application dated February 25, 2009. App. 150-154. An evidentiary hearing was convened on September 13, 2010, before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo. Then Assistant Attorney General Karen Ratigan represented the state. Gary Finklea represented Appellant. By order filed December 10, 2010, Judge Russo denied Appellant relief. App. 156-167. On March 11, 2014, the Court of Appeals dismissed Appellant's appeal after a review pursuant to Johnson v. State, 294 S.C. 310, 364 S.E.2d 201 (1988). App. 168-169.

On March 20, 2013, Appellant filed a successive application for post-conviction relief arguing his sentence of life without parole imposed for a crime he committed as a juvenile violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 15 of the South Carolina Constitution pursuant to Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), where the United States Supreme Court held that mandatory sentences of life without parole for juvenile offenders violate the Eighth Amendment. App. 171-181. On that same day, Appellant filed a motion to stay the proceedings until the South Carolina Supreme Court's resolution of Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). App. 182-185. By order filed March 16, 2017, the circuit court ultimately dismissed Appellant's application in light of our Supreme Court's holding in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014).

On June 8, 2016, Appellant filed a motion for resentencing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars. App. 431-433. A resentencing hearing was held on March 3, 2022, before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson. App. 434. Deputy Solicitor Kenard Redmond represented the state. Robert Gailliard represented Appellant. App. 434. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Henderson resentedenced Appellant to life without parole for murder. App. 521, ll. 13-25.

While a timely notice of appeal was filed on Appellant's behalf, the Court of Appeals dismissed Appellant's appeal because counsel for Appellant failed to timely serve the notice of appeal on the state. App. 560. The Court of Appeals denied Appellant's subsequent motion to recall the remittitur. App. 572-573.

On April 26, 2022, Appellant filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) seeking a belated direct appeal from his resentencing pursuant to White v. State, 236 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974). App. 574-580. The state filed a return to this application on February 8, 2023. App. 581-589. An evidentiary hearing was convened on March 4, 2024, before the Honorable George McFadden, Jr. App. 596. Assistant Attorney General D. Russell Barlow represented the state. Steven Fowler represented Appellant. App. 596. By order filed March 15, 2024, Judge McFadden granted Appellant a belated appeal. App. 606-611.

This brief of appellant pursuant to White v. State follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Richard Griggs, the decedent, owned and operated Griggs Thriftway, a small store in Hartsville, South Carolina. On the night of September 9, 2004, after the store had closed, Anthony Robinson and Appellant approached the door of the store. The state alleged the decedent “would open his store even after it had closed for people he knew.” The decedent opened the door and allowed Robinson and Appellant inside. After bringing items to the register to supposedly purchase, Robinson, who carried a .22 pistol, shot the decedent several times. Robinson and Appellant then stole over fifteen hundred dollars from the store. Dennis Hunter, who the state alleged conspired with Robinson and Appellant to rob the store, waited outside in the getaway car. The three then went to the Hartsville Motel. Within two hours, they were apprehended by law enforcement at the motel. Officers found the pistol Robinson used to shoot the decedent as well as the stolen cash in the motel room. All three ultimately gave “videotaped confessions” outlining their roles in the robbery and murder. App. 73, l. 2 – 75, l. 25. Neither Appellant nor Hunter were armed. It was undisputed that Robinson was the sole gunman.

The night before the robbery, Robinson, who was nineteen or twenty years old, shot his girlfriend with the same pistol he used to shoot the decedent in this case. App. 42, ll. 2-20. Law enforcement had a warrant for Robinson’s arrest and was actively searching for him as a result of this shooting. Robinson was “trying to leave town” to avoid apprehension. Robinson planned the robbery of Grigg’s Thriftway with then fifteen year old Appellant and sixteen year old Hunter to obtain money to fund his flight. App. 78, ll. 1-4. The police were able to apprehend Robinson, Appellant, and Hunter so quickly after the robbery because of their previous efforts to locate and arrest Robinson for shooting his girlfriend. App. 74, ll. 11-23.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When considering whether a sentence violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishments, the appellate court’s standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law. Therefore, this court will not disturb the circuit court’s findings absent a manifest abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court’s finding is based on an error of law or grounded in factual conclusions without evidentiary support. State v. Mack, 441 S.C. 526, 535-36, 894 S.E.2d 820, 825 (Ct. App. 2023) (citing State v. Finley, 427 S.C. 419, 423, 831 S.E.2d 158, 160 (Ct. App. 2019)) (emphasis removed).

ARGUMENT

The resentencing court erred as a matter of law by sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense he committed as a fifteen year old juvenile where the court failed to properly consider and apply the *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) factors, particularly where the court misinterpreted several factors and used them as evidence of aggravation instead of as evidence mitigating in favor of a sentence less than life.

In 2012, the United States Supreme Court issued a landmark decision in Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012). State v. Mack, 441 S.C. 526, 536, 894 S.E.2d 820, 825 (Ct. App. 2023). The Court held “that mandatory life without parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on ‘cruel and unusual punishments.’” Miller, 567 U.S. at 465 (quoting U.S. Const. amend. VIII). “The Court explained this conclusion rested on the nature of human development and the recognition in constitutional law that ‘children are different.’” Mack, 441 S.C. at 536, 894 S.E.2d at 825 (citing Miller, 567 U.S. at 479-81). The Court in Miller stated:

Mandatory life without parole for a juvenile precludes consideration of his chronological age and its hallmark features—among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences. It prevents taking into account the family and home environment that surrounds him—and from which he cannot usually extricate himself—no matter how brutal or dysfunctional. It neglects the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of his participation in the conduct and the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him. Indeed, it ignores that he might have been charged and convicted of a lesser offense if not for incompetencies associated with youth—for example, his inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or his incapacity to assist his own attorneys.

Miller, 567 U.S. at 477-78.

The South Carolina Supreme Court considered the impact of Miller on South Carolina law in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). Mack, 441 S.C. at 537, 894 S.E.2d

at 826. The Court held “Miller affected South Carolina’s discretionary sentencing regime because ‘Miller does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered.’” Mack, 441 S.C. at 537, 894 S.E.2d at 826 (quoting Aiken, 410 S.C. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576-77). Our Supreme Court in Aiken set forth factors to guide courts in carrying out their duties under the Eighth Amendment. Mack, 441 S.C. at 537, 894 S.E.2d at 826 (citing Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577).

After Aiken, the United States Supreme Court elaborated further on the dimensions of Miller in Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190 (2016). The Court exclaimed, “Miller, then, did more than require a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender’s youth before imposing life without parole; it established that the penological justifications for life without parole collapse in light of ‘the distinctive attributes of youth.’ Even if a court considers a child’s age before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the Eighth Amendment for a child whose crime reflects ‘unfortunate yet transient immaturity.’” Montgomery, 577 U.S. at 208 (quoting Miller, 567 U.S. at 472). The Court added: “A hearing where ‘youth and its attendant characteristics’ are considered as sentencing factors is necessary to separate those juveniles who may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not.” Id. at 210 (quoting Miller, 567 U.S. at 465).

In 2021, the United States Supreme Court again addressed the issue in an effort to clarify the meaning of Miller and Montgomery. In Jones v. Mississippi, 593 U.S. 98, 109 (2021), the Court held, “Miller did not require the sentencer to make a separate finding of permanent incorrigibility before imposing such a sentence.” Instead, the majority found that “the Court’s precedents require a discretionary sentencing procedure in a case of this kind.” Id. at 120.

As emphasized by this Court in Mack, “Our supreme court has decided that, in South Carolina, compliance [with the holdings of Miller and Montgomery] should take the shape of a review of the Aiken factors.” Therefore, respectfully, this Court should review the resentencing court’s process in considering the Aiken factors in Appellant’s case. The Aiken factors include: “(1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence; (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender’s participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender’s inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender’s incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation. Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (quoting Miller, 567 U.S. at 477-78) (internal quotation marks and alternations omitted).

Recently, in Mack, the Court of Appeals held the resentencing court did not adequately consider and apply the Aiken factors before sentencing Mack to life without parole.¹ In particular, the Court of Appeals held the resentencing court did not properly consider the hallmark features of youth and Mack’s upbringing. Mack, 441 S.C. at 546, 894 S.E.2d at 830. The court emphasized that the resentencing court’s order addressed Mack’s age only as a “chronological fact” and did not seem to consider the “hallmark features of youth” at all. Id. at 540, 894 S.E.2d at 827. The resentencing court noted that Mack was seventeen years old at the time of the murder, which is “within one year of being able to serve in the military and possibly fight and die for this country” and “within one year of an age whereby he would have immense

¹ Our Supreme Court denied the state’s petition for writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals in Mack on September 24, 2024.

responsibilities and be considered an adult by law.” Id. at 540-41, 894 S.E.2d at 827-28. The Court of Appeals in Mack held “Miller requires more; it requires ‘factors of youth be carefully and thoughtfully considered’ in the individualized sentencing proceeding.” Id. at 540, 894 S.E.2d at 828. The court concluded, “Simply finding that Mack was almost eighteen . . . does not account for the careful and thoughtful consideration the U.S. Supreme Court considers vital.” Id. at 542, 894 S.E.2d at 829.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals held the resentencing court did not meaningfully consider the second Aiken factor: “the family and home environment that surrounded the offender.” Id. at 543-44, 894 S.E.2d at 829. The resentencing court found, “Mack grew up in a bad home environment, whereby he witnessed several traumatic events in his childhood and was affected by these events as well as many other things in his life. However, the court recognizes that many successful people grew up in chaotic and violent environments and were able to adhere to the law and become productive members of society.” Id. at 544, 894 S.E.2d at 829. The Court of Appeals concluded the resentencing court “misapprehended the nature of the question this Aiken factor seeks to answer. The inquiry does not ask the court to use the success of others in overcoming their circumstances as the yardstick when considering the defendant’s circumstances. . . . The inquiry requires the court to consider the impact of *the defendant’s* family and home environment *on his crimes*. It is a specific and individualized inquiry.” Id. at 544, 894 S.E.2d at 829-30 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals emphasized that “the resentencing court did not make findings as to how Mack’s childhood affected *him*.” Id. at 544, 894 S.E.2d at 830 (emphasis in original). Accordingly, the appellate court reversed and remanded for resentencing.

In this case, like in Mack, the resentencing court erred as a matter of law by sentencing Appellant to life without parole where the court failed to properly consider and apply the Aiken factors. The court misinterpreted several factors and used them as evidence of aggravation instead of as evidence mitigating in favor of a sentence less than life.

The first Aiken factor requires the sentencing court to consider “the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence.” The sentencing court noted that Appellant was fifteen years old at the time of the offense and that doctors with the Department of Juvenile Justice found during Appellant’s waiver evaluation that Appellant was “not mature” and “did not meet [the] expected level of a 16 year old at that time.” However, the court discredited this finding stating, “But that’s just one factor and one thing they said.” The court went on to conclude that Appellant, despite his age, should have known the risks and consequences of his actions because he had previously been adjudicated delinquent fourteen times. The court asserted, “He [Appellant] knew there were risks involved in committing an armed robbery. He knew that if he got caught and was arrested he was gonna go to jail or at least, have to go to court and let the court determine whether or not he was guilty. So I cannot believe that he did not understand or appreciate the risks and consequences involved. He had to have. Common sense tells you that after his experience with the law. DJJ may have found him to be immature but some of that immaturity is gone after you’ve been arrested 14 times.” App. 512, l. 12 – 513, l. 25.

Based on the resentencing court’s statements, the court clearly misinterpreted this Aiken factor. The court summarily dismissed the finding from the waiver evaluation that Appellant, then sixteen, was immature, even for his age. The court also ignored the finding that “despite his long criminal record, and despite his efforts at trying to be grown up, he [Appellant] seemed like

a child trying to make believe that he was an adult.” App. 543. The sentencing court also improperly relied on Appellant’s juvenile record to find Appellant “had to have” appreciated the risks and consequences involved in participating in the armed robbery. Despite what Miller and Aiken require, the resentencing court summarily dismissed the hallmark features of youth.

Long before Miller, in Johnson v. Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 367 (1993), the United States Supreme Court recognized that a “lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility are found in youth more often than in adults and are more understandable among the young. These qualities often result in impetuous and ill-considered actions and decisions.” In Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982), the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals refused to consider Eddings’ personality disorder and family history as mitigating because, in its view Eddings “knew the difference between right and wrong,” and the evidence did not “excuse” the behavior. Eddings, 455 U.S. at 113. The United States Supreme Court admonished the state appellate court from “considering only that evidence to be mitigating which would tend to support a legal excuse from criminal liability.” Id. Emphasizing that “the chronological age of minor is a relevant mitigating factor of great weight,” the Court held the background and mental and emotional development of a youthful defendant” must be “duly considered in sentencing.” Id. at 116. The resentencing court in this case failed to do so.

The second Aiken factor requires the sentencing court to consider “the family and home environment that surrounded the offender.” The resentencing court’s consideration of this factor is particularly troubling. The court acknowledged Appellant did not “have the best home life” but maintained “that’s just one factor.” The court asserted, “[H]e did well when he was in the home of the foster people so he knew how to act. He knew how to behave when he was in the right environment. You know, there’s a lot of people in this world who came from terrible

situations [and] ha[ve] been successful in life. They don't let that be an excuse for them that I had a bad home. I had a bad step daddy. I had a mama who used drugs and drank and did stuff.” App. 514, l. 1 – 515, l. 3.

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