**RECEIVED**

**Apr 28 2025**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas

---

Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000550

---

ANGELO HAM, #315014,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
PURSUANT TO WHITE V. STATE**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 105228

Office of the Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Phone: 803-734-3737

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

(App. pp. 512-513).

In consideration of factor two, the family and home environment that surrounded the offender, the resentencing court heard the testimony of Pastor Daniels and the DJJ report and stated that Appellant did not have the best life and "anybody that has reviewed everything would agree with that." The resentencing court emphasized that Appellant did well in foster care and knew how to act in the right environment. The resentencing court expressed that many people come from bad homes, and they do not let that dictate the outcome of their life. The resentencing court emphasized that Appellant came from a bad home and how his mother would not admit to her own wrong doings. (App. pp. 514-515).

In consideration of factor three, "the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him," the resentencing court emphasized that this was one of the most horrific homicides that the resentencing court had ever dealt with. The resentencing court expressed that there was no doubt as to Appellant's participation, as through his own admissions that he was the person who got the Victim to open the door. The resentencing court indicated that it had read through the transcript that Appellant agreed to the facts presented and now wants to change his story. The resentencing court found that Appellant was one of the main participants in the crimes. The resentencing court found that there was no familial pressure. The resentencing court addressed the possibility of intimidation from the co-defendant with the gun, but highlighted that the case was one of conspiracy. The resentencing court ultimately found Appellant knew precisely what he was doing, but did not find it was due to peer pressure. (App. pp. 515-517).

In consideration of factor four, "incompetencies associated with youth," the resentencing court found Appellant undoubtedly assisted his attorney, and this was plain from the reading of the transcript. The resentencing court found that there was nothing in the DJJ report and no competency evaluation indicating Appellant could not assist his attorney. The resentencing court emphasized that the DJJ report indicated Appellant "demonstrated intellectual capacity." Further, the resentencing court found that there was no showing to that court that Appellant suffered any incapacities. The resentencing court emphasized that Appellant had enough capacity to "try to minimize his involvement" at his original sentencing hearing and at the resentencing hearing. The resentencing court found no indications that Appellant had any issues dealing with his attorney, law enforcement, or the prosecutor in this case. (App. pp. 517-519).

In consideration of factor five, "a possibility of rehabilitation," the resentencing court found:

Well, I'm looking at a report from DJJ closer in time, obviously, to the time he was sentenced originally. "Angelo had a long history of infractions and persons with such patterns, especially if escalated are more difficult to rehabilitate." Mr Redmond pointed that out in his argument. Well, things certainly escalated. I mean, they escalated from the very first one through 14 different offenses until they did the big one. The murder and the armed robbery. They go on to say, "persons who are guilty but who do not admit their wrongdoing are less likely to rehabilitate very well." Well, you know, he admitted it on his guilty plea. But if you go back and look at your transcript at the sentencing and Judge Milling was concerned about this, he started recanting like crazy. Complaining about his lawyer. One of the best ones in the PD in saying, I -- we were doped up. We were this. We were that. You know, don't know whether it was us in store, you know. Total denial at that point in time. And even today, even today he tries to argue that, and again, goes to the minimization, that what he did was manslaughter. Well, and reason -- and they talk about he doesn't know the intricacies of the law and this and that. Sure he doesn't. You know, like you said some lawyers don't. Law students don't and some lawyers don't understand it either. But he knows that manslaughter is a lesser offense than murder and most anybody would know that, in general. And he's trying to say, you know, what I did was less than murder. So I ought not to have to get the sentence that I've already been given 'cause I wasn't that bad. I didn't do that much. But, you know, we've got the recantation earlier. We've got the minimization now, it continues 17 and a half years later. DJJ's concern about rehabilitation. In Judge Milling's comment about no remorse was shown. Now, he's come in here today and apologize to the family, 17 and a half years too late. I guess if I'd been imprisoned for all this time too I might, I'd be trying to do anything to keep from going back or to get out sooner. You can't blame a man for trying, I guess, but it falls on deaf ears with me.

(App. pp. 519-521).

Ultimately, the resentencing court found that after considering and looking at all the various factors required by *Miller v. Alabama* and *Aiken v. Byars* and reviewing the entire record, the resentencing court was satisfied that Judge Milling's sentence of life without parole was appropriate. The resentencing court resentenced Appellant to life without parole. (App. p. 521).

**A. Failure to Object to the Sentence and Raise the Specific Concerns to Judge Henderson Defeats the Court's Authority to Consider the Assertions of Error Raised for the First Time in this Appeal.**

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is "to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity "to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and **arguments**." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added); see generally Unemployment Compensation Comm'n of Alaska v. Aragan, 329 U.S. 143, 155 (1946) ("A reviewing court usurps the agency's function when it sets aside the administrative determination upon a ground not theretofore presented and deprives the Commission of an opportunity to consider the matter, make its ruling, and state the reasons for its action.").

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an issue—including a constitutional one—is not presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v.

Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) ("Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appeal."). Critically, on appeal, an appellant is limited solely to the grounds raised at trial. State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997); see State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) ("[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.").

Moreover, in the context of sentencing issues, a criminal defendant is required to contemporaneously object to an alleged sentencing error during trial in order to preserve an issue with a sentence for appellate review. State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 276, 498 S.E.2d 655, 669 (Ct. App. 1998); see State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999) ("[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review."). Importantly, an appellant's failure to timely object to or seek modification of a sentence in the trial court precludes him from pursuing the issue on appeal. State v. Winestock, 271 S.C. 473, 475, 248 S.E.2d 307, 308 (1978); see State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) ("No objection to sentencing was raised at trial and this issue is not properly before the court."); State v. Shumate, 276 S.C. 46, 47, 275 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1981) ("A defendant's failure to timely object to or seek modification of his sentence in the trial court precludes him from presenting his objection for the first time on appeal. Appellant's contention was not advanced at the probation revocation hearing where the results were most favorable to him. By failing to object to or seek modification of the revocation sentence in the trial court he is now foreclosed from doing so on appeal." (citations omitted)).

Appellant contends that the resentencing court insufficiently and erroneously applied the Aiken v. Byars factors because it "misinterpreted several factors and used them as evidence of

aggravation instead of evidence mitigating in favor of a sentence less than life." (BOA p. 7). Absent any request below when given the opportunity to do so at the March 3, 2022, resentencing hearing with Judge Henderson, Appellant for the first time in this appeal suggests this Court should vacate the sentence and remand for a new resentencing hearing in compliance with Miller and Aiken - a correction or clarification he failed to ask for at the time of the actual sentencing on March 3, 2022. *cf.* State v. Pearson, 286 Or. App. 110, 111-112, 398 P.2d 506, 506-507 (Or. Ct. App. 2017) (holding a defendant's appellate argument his forty-year sentence for crimes he committed as a juvenile was unconstitutional in light of the United States Supreme Court's decision in Miller was neither preserved for appellate review nor plainly erroneous where the defendant merely argued to the sentencing judge he should receive a shorter sentence and never suggested a forty-year sentence would be unconstitutional in light of his status as a juvenile).

Despite Judge Henderson's statement to the contrary about his consideration of all the factors and going through each of them on the record, Appellant now contends for the first time that nothing other than limited parcels of the evidence was considered and the resentencing judge erroneously applied them to his case. For example, Appellant avers for the first time that the resentencing court in evaluating the first Aiken factor dismissed portions of the record and relied on others to improperly dismiss the hallmark features of youth. Another example, Appellant avers for the first time the resentencing court did not meaningfully consider the second Aiken factor and likens the error to that found by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in State v. Mack, 441 S.C. 526, 894 S.E.2d 820 (Ct. App. 2023). Again, these concerns about alleged errors were ones that should have been raised before Judge Henderson so that he would have had the opportunity to address them at that time.

Because defense counsel did not raise any of the arguments Appellant is now attempting to raise on appeal, the sentencing judge was wholly denied an opportunity to consider, address, or rule upon those arguments in imposing Appellant's sentence. See Queen's Grant, 368 S.C. at 373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 ("Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." (citations omitted)). Critically, without first giving the sentencing judge an opportunity to address his constitutional claims regarding the propriety of his sentence, Appellant is precluded from raising those claims for the first time on appeal. See State v. McCray, 222 S.C. 391, 394, 73 S.E.2d 1, 2 (1952) (finding McCray's appellate contention the sentence imposed was "cruel and excessive" was unavailable to him on appeal because that particular contention was not raised to the circuit court judge); see also I'On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 ("The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred."); see generally In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review."). As a result, Appellant's appellate challenge to his sentence is not properly preserved for appellate review and simply cannot appropriately be raised or addressed for the first time on appeal. See Johnston, 333 S.C. at 462, 510 S.E.2d at 425 ("[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review."); State v. Walker, 252 S.C. 325, 327-328, 166 S.E.2d 209, 210 (1969) (declining to address Walker's appellate contention the sentence he received could not have properly been imposed "on the elementary ground that the question was not raised below"); see also State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court "cannot address unpreserved errors"); cf. State v. Gullledge, 321 S.C. 399, 404-405, 468 S.E.2d 665, 669 (Ct. App.

1996) ("Gulledge . . . argues the State did not prove she had the resources to pay \$210,000.00 in restitution and the trial court failed to state its findings and the underlying facts and circumstances of them. Because this argument was neither raised to nor addressed by the trial court, we need not deal with it.") (citation omitted). Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

What is required is for the sentencing court to fully consider the Aiken and Miller factors in sentencing and subject them to individualized sentencing. As documented within our summary of the evidence presented to Judge Henderson, evidence was presented to him which touched upon all five factors in Aiken. Judge Henderson's acknowledgement that he considered all the factors and the failure of Appellant (or the State) to object or suggest otherwise when given the opportunity suggests they recognized the sentence did not abuse Judge Henderson's discretion. See Jones v. Mississippi, 593 U.S. 98, 116-117 (2021) ("Because the Constitution does not require an on-the-record explanation of mitigating circumstances by the sentencer in *death penalty cases*, it would be incongruous to require an on-the-record explanation of the mitigating circumstance of youth by the sentencer in *life-without-parole cases*.").

Since there were no objections to Appellant's sentence and there was no motion to reconsider the sentence made to Judge Henderson, Respondent submits that Appellant's issues are not preserved for appeal and all his grounds for relief from the sentence must be rejected.

**II. The resentencing court did not err as a matter of law by sentencing Appellant to life without parole for an offense he committed as a fifteen-year-old juvenile where the court properly considered and applied the Aiken v. Byars factors.**

In 2012, the United States Supreme Court held that "mandatory life without parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on 'cruel and unusual punishments.'" Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 465 (quoting U.S. Const. amend. VIII). The South Carolina Supreme Court considered the impact of Miller on South Carolina law in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). Our Supreme Court in

Aiken set forth factors to guide courts in carrying out their duties under the Eighth Amendment. Id.

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